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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
. . s )
FARIEAL ; No. 12 C 9167
V. )
) : :
MICHAEL J. REINSTEIN, ) dEIE TR DEMARDED
)
Defendant. )
COMPLAINT

The United States of America, by Gary S. Shapiro, Acting United States Attorney for the
Northern District of Illinois, for its complaint states:
Jurisdiction And Venue
I This action arises under the False Claims Act, as amended, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-33,
and under common law theories of payment by mistake of fact, unjust enrichment, and fraud. This
court has jurisdiction over this actionunder 31 U.S.C. § 3730(a)and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1345 and 1367(a).
2. Venue is proper in the Northern District of Illinois pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)
and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a), because the defendant resides and transacts business in this district.
Parties
3. Plaintiff, the United States of America, acting through the Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS), administers the Health Insurance Program for the Aged and Disabled
established by Title XVIII of the Social Security Act (Act), 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395 ef seq., (Medicare),
and Grants to States for Medical Assistance Programs pursuant to Title XIX of the Act, 42 U.S.C.

§§ 1396 et seq., (Medicaid).
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4. Defendant Michael J. Reinstein (Reinstein) resides in Skokie, Illinois, and was
licensed by the State of Illinois as a physician at all times relevant to this complaint. Since at least
1999, Reinstein has maintained an office at 4755 North Kenmore Avenue in Chicago, Illinois.

The Law
5. The False Claims Act (FCA) provides, in pertinent part that:
(a) Any person who —
(1) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, to an officer or
employee of the United States Government or a member of the
Armed Forces of the United States a false or fraudulent claim for
payment or approval;
(2) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or

approved by the Government; [or]

(3) conspires to defraud the Government by getting a false or
fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government; . . .

is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not
less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000, as adjusted by the
Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, plus 3
times the amount of damages which the Government sustains because
of the act of that person . . . .

(b) For purposes of this section, the terms “knowing” and
“knowingly” mean that a person, with respect to information —

(1) has actual knowledge of the information;

(2) acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the
information; or

(3) acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the
information,

and no proof of specific intent to defraud is required.
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31 U.S.C. §3729(a), (b) (FCA, pre-2009 amendments). The False Claims Act was amended by the
Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, Public Law 111-21. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A), (B)
(reflecting changes to the wording of the pre-2009 FCA provisions previously found at 31 U.S.C.
§(a)(1), (2)and (3)). See also 28 C.F.R. § 85.3(a)(9) (detailing current civil penalties of not less
than $5,500 and not more than $11,000 for violations of the FCA).

6. The Anti-Kickback Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b), arose out of congressional concern
that payoffs to those who can influence healthcare decisions would result in goods and services
being provided that are medically unnecessary, of poor quality, or even harmful to a vulnerable
patient population. To protect the integrity of the program from these difficult-to-detect harms,
Congress enacted a per se prohibition against the payment of kickbacks in any form, regardless of
whether the particular kickback gave rise to overutilization or poor quality of care. First enacted in
1972, Congress strengthened the statute in 1977 and 1987 to ensure that kickbacks masquerading
as legitimate transactions did not evade its reach. See Social Security Amendments of 1972, Pub.
[..No.92-603, §§ 242(b) and (c¢); 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b, Medicare-Medicaid Anti-Fraud and Abuse
Amendments, Pub. L. No. 95-142; Medicare and Medicaid Patient and Program Protection Act of
1987, Pub. L. No. 100-93.

7 The Anti-Kickback Act prohibits any person or entity from making or accepting
payment to induce or reward any person for referring, recommending or arranging for federally
funded medical services, including services provided under the Medicare and Medicaid programs:

(b) Tllegal remunerations
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(1) whoever knowingly and willfully solicits or receives any
remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or rebate) directly
or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind —
(A) in return for referring an individual to a person for the
furnishing or arranging for the furnishing of any item or
service for which payment may be made in whole or in part
under a Federal health care program, or

(B) inreturn for purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for
or recommend purchasing, leasing or ordering any good,
facility, service, or item for which payment may be made in
whole or in part under a Federal health care program,

shall be guilty of a felony and upon conviction thereof, shall be
fined not more than $25,000 or imprisoned for not more than five
years, or both.

42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b). Violation of the statute can also subject the perpetrator to exclusion from
participation in federal health care programs and, effective August 6, 1997, to civil monetary
penalties of $50,000 per violation and three times the amount of remuneration paid. 42 U.S.C.

§ 1320a-7(b)(7) and 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7a(a)(7).

8. In 2010, Congress amended the Anti-Kickback Act to clarify that “a claim that
includes items or services resulting from a violation of this section constitutes a false or fraudulent
claim for purposes of [the FCA].” Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (PPACA),
Pub. L. No. 111-148 § 6402(f), 124 Stat. 119, 759 (to be codified at 42 U.S.C.§ 1320a-7b(g)).

The Medicare and Medicaid Programs

9. In 1965, Congress enacted Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, known as the
Medicare program, to pay for the costs of certain healthcare services. Entitlement to Medicare is
based on age, disability, or affliction with end-stage renal disease. See 42 U.S.C. §§ 426, 426A.
Part B of the Medicare Program authorizes payment of federal funds for medical and other health

4
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services, including without limitation physician services, laboratory services, outpatient therapy,
diagnostic services, and radiology services. Part D of the Medicare Program was enacted as part of
the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, Pub. L. 108-173.
Part D provides prescription drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries. Beneficiaries can obtain the
Part D drug benefit by joining a Prescription Drug Plan for drug coverage only, or they can join a
Medicare Advantage plan that covers both medical services and prescription drugs.

10. HHS is responsible for the administration and supervision of the Medicare program.
The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) is an agency of HHS and is directly
responsible for the administration of the Medicare program.

11. Medicare enters into provider agreements with providers and suppliers to establish
their eligibility to participate in the program. In order to be eligible for payment under the program,
physicians must certify:

| agree to abide by the Medicare laws, regulations and program
instructions that apply to me . . . The Medicare laws, regulations, and
program instructions are available through the fee-for-service
contractor. | understand that payment of a claim by Medicare is
conditioned upon the claim and the underlying transaction complying
with such laws, regulations, and program instructions (including, but
not limited to, the Federal anti-kickback statute and the Stark law),
and on the supplier’s compliance with all applicable conditions of
participation in Medicare.
CMS Forms 8551.
12, Reinstein was obligated to make and comply with this certification in order to be

eligible to submit claims to Medicare. Pharmacies must make a similar certification to be eligible

to submit claims to Medicare. CMS Form 8558.
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13. As detailed below, Reinstein submitted and/or caused claims to be submitted to
Medicare Part B for services he purportedly provided to beneficiaries and caused the submission of
claims to Medicare Part D for prescription drugs he prescribed to his patients.

14. The Medicaid program was also created in 1965 as part of the Social Security Act,
which authorized federal grants to states for medical assistance to low-income, blind, or disabled
persons, or tomembers of families with dependent children or qualified pregnant women or children.
The Medicaid program is jointly financed by the federal and state governments. CMS administers
Medicaid on the federal level. Within broad federal rules, each state determines eligible groups,
types and range of services, payment levels for services, and administrative and operating
procedures. The states directly pay providers, with the states obtaining the federal share of the
payment from accounts that draw on the United States Treasury. 42 C.F.R. §§430.0-430.30 (1994).
The federal share of Medicaid expenditures varies by state and can fluctuate annually.

15. InIllinois, providers participating in the Medicaid program submit claims for services
rendered to recipients to the Illinois Department of Healthcare and Family Services for payment.

16. As detailed below, Reinstein submitted and/or caused claims to be submitted to
Medicaid for services he purportedly provided to Medicaid recipients and caused the submission of
claims to Medicaid for prescription drugs he prescribed to his patients.

17. Compliance with the Anti-Kickback Act is a condition of payment for both Medicare

and Medicaid.
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Specific Allegations
A. Reinstein’s Psychiatric Practice

18. From 1973 through the present, Reinstein has provided psychiatric services to
patients in Chicago and the surrounding area. Since at least 1999, Reinstein’s office has been
located in the Uptown neighborhood of Chicago, which is home to the densest concentration of
mentally ill nursing home residents in Illinois. As part ofhis practice, Reinstein routinely prescribes
for his patients atypical antipsychotics and other medications used in the treatment of psychiatric
disorders.

19. At all relevant times Reinstein knew that, because most of his patients are indigent
nursing home residents, the medications he prescribed were dispensed by pharmacies that submitted
claims for the prescriptions to Medicaid and, after January 1, 2006, to Medicare Part D.

20. During this same period, Reinstein submitted and/or caused to be submitted to both
Medicaid and Medicare claims for the “pharmacologic management™ of his patients, which were
billed under the Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) Code 90862. CPT Code 90862 isto be used
by physicians when billing for a patient encounter that is focused on the prescribing and monitoring
of psychopharmacologic agents. Because psychopharmacologic agents are potent medications with
frequent serious side effects, a psychiatrist billing a patient encounter under CPT Code 90862 is
expected to a engage in a substantive evaluation of the patient’s medical and psychiatric condition
in order to properly manage their medication needs.

21. During the relevant time period, Reinstein purportedly provided pharmacologic

management to patients at more than 30 different nursing homes and long-term care facilities.
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22. Prior to August 2003, Reinstein prescribed Clozaril, an atypical antipsychotic
manufactured by Novartis, for many of his patients. Clozaril was the trade name for the clozapine
molecule that Novartis had patented. For many years prior to August 2003, Novartis paid Reinstein
to promote Clozaril.

23. While clozapine has been shown to be effective for treatment-resistant forms of
schizophrenia, clozapine is also known to cause numerous serious side effects, including
agranulocytosis (a condition involving a potentially deadly decrease in white blood cells), seizures,
myocarditis (inflamation ofthe heart muscle), and increased mortality in elderly patients. Asaresult
of these serious potential side effects, clozapine is generally considered a drug of last resort,
particularly for elderly patients. Despite the potential side effects and clozapine’s status as a drug
of last resort, Reinstein often had more than 1,000 individual patients on Clozaril at any given time
prior to August 2003.

24, Novartis’s patent for Clozaril expired in 1998. Generic forms of clozapine became
available that same year. Despite the availability of generic, bioequivalent alternatives to Clozaril,
Reinstein resisted pharmacy and drug company efforts to switch his patients to generic clozapine
and continued to be the largest prescriber of Novartis’s Clozaril to Medicaid recipients in the United
States. In 2000 and 2001, Reinstein prescribed more Clozaril to Medicaid recipients than the next
nine top Clozaril-prescribing physicians in the United States combined.

2 In or about July 2003, Novartis notified Reinstein that it would be withdrawing its
“support” for Clozaril. The regular payments Novartis had been making to Reinstein ended soon

thereafter.
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B. Kickbacks Solicited and Received by Reinstein in Exchange for Prescribing Clozapine
to His Patients

26. IVAX Corporation is a Delaware corporation that previously had its headquarters in
Miami, Florida. IVAX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (IVAX), a Florida corporation, is a subsidiary of
IVAX Corporation. IVAX manufactured and sold generic clozapine in Illinois and throughout the
United States.

27, Because of the large number of psychiatric patients for whom Reinstein prescribed
medications, particularly Clozaril, IVAX wanted to find a way to persuade Reinstein to switch his
patients from Clozaril to IVAX’s generic clozapine.

28. Inearly 2003, emplovees of IVAX reached out to Reinstein in an effort to induce him
to switch his patients to IVAX’s generic version of clozapine. Prior to August 2003, Reinstein had
continued to refuse to switch his patients from Clozaril to generic clozapine. However, in or about
August 2003, soon after Novartis informed Reinstein that it would be withdrawing its “support” to
him for Clozaril, Reinstein finally agreed to switch his patients to generic IVAX clozapine if IVAX
agreed to: pay Reinstein $50,000 ($4,166 per month) under a one-year “consulting agreement”; pay
Reinstein’s nurse, Lynne Jones, to speak on behalf of clozapine; and fund a clozapine research study
by a Reinstein-affiliated entity known as Uptown Research Institute. IVAX agreed, and at a meeting
with [IVAX employees in Chicago, Illinois, on August 19, 2003, IVAX confirmed the remuneration
it was offering Reinstein, and Reinstein confirmed his agreement to switch his patients from Clozaril
to IVAX’s clozapine. After reaching this kickback agreement with IVAX, Reinstein immediately
began switching his patients from Clozaril to IVAX’s clozapine.

29, After Reinstein switched his patients from Clozaril to IVAX’s clozapine beginning

in August 2003, Reinstein became the largest prescriber of generic clozapine in the United States.
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Reinstein’s inordinate prescribing of clozapine stands in stark contrast to its extremely limited use
by other physicians. Clozapine is one of the least-prescribed atypical antipsychotics in the United
States. During the period in which Reinstein was soliciting and accepting kickbacks from IVAX
(and later, as alleged below, from Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.), approximately four percent of
all schizophrenia patients receiving atypical antipsychotics received clozapine. The use of clozapine
in nursing homes, where Reinstein focuses his practice, is even more limited. A study done by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services found that, in 2007, clozapine was
prescribed to less than two percent of nursing home residents for whom claims had been submitted
to Medicare for an atypical antipsychotic. During the period in which Reinstein was soliciting and
accepting kickbacks to prescribe clozapine, Reinstein had more than fifty percent of his patients on
clozapine. At just one nursing home, Reinstein had seventy-five percent of the residents (three
hundred out of four hundred) on clozapine.

30. Beginning in 2003 and continuing through 2006, Reinstein requested and IVAX
provided additional direct and indirect remuneration to Reinstein and his associates in order to
ensure that Reinstein continued to prescribe clozapine to his patients, including but not limited to:

a. In February 2004, Reinstein traveled to IVAX’s headquarters in Miami, Florida, at

IVAX’s expense. Reinstein asked that IVAX also pay airfare, lodging, meals, and
entertainment expenses for Reinstein’s wife, a Chicago pharmacy owner, the
pharmacy owner’s wife, Reinstein’s nurse, his accountant and her spouse, and his
administrative assistant and her spouse, to travel with Reinstein to Miami. [VAX

complied with this request. During this trip, IVAX paid for Reinstein and his
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3.

entourage to go on a fishing trip and also picked up the check for at least one dinner
costing more than $1,000.

In February 2004, Reinstein asked IVAX to provide him with free, IVAX-
manufactured medication for Reinstein’s personal use. IVAX complied with this
request.

In or about August 2004, Reinstein requested and IVAX renewed its $50,000
“consulting agreement” with Reinstein, and also renewed its similar agreement with
Reinstein’s nurse.

In March 2005, IVAX again paid airfare, lodging, meals, and entertainment expenses
for Reinstein, his wife, a Chicago pharmacy owner, the pharmacy owner’s wife,
Reinstein’s nurse, his accountant and her spouse, and his administrative assistant and
her spouse, to travel with Reinstein to Miami. During this trip, IVAX paid for
Reinstein and his entourage to go on a $800 boat cruise, a golf outing, and at least
two dinners costing more than $1,400 each.

In or about October 2005, Reinstein requested and IVAX renewed its $50,000
“consulting agreement” with Dr. Reinstein.

From 2003 through 2006, Reinstein repeatedly asked IVAX to pay for tickets to
professional sporting events for Reinstein and his associates. IVAX complied with
these requests.

On January 26, 2006, IVAX Corporation merged with, and became a wholly-owned

subsidiary of'an Israeli company, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries, [.td. Within Teva Pharmaceutical

Industries, Ltd., the direct corporate parent of [IVAX is Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (Teva). At
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all times relevant to this complaint, Teva continued to market and sell clozapine in Illinois and
elsewhere.

32. In the months prior to IVAX merging with Teva, in or about April 2005, Reinstein
had begun switching large numbers of his patients off of IVAX/Teva’s clozapine and placing them
on Fazaclo, a dissolvable form of clozapine manufactured by a competitor of IVAX/Teva. By
January 2006, Reinstein had reduced the number of patients for whom he was prescribing
IVAX/Teva clozapine by about fifty percent.

33. Teva’s sales representatives and executives were concerned with the reduction in
Reinstein’s prescribing of clozapine and attempted to find ways to induce Reinstein to prescribe
more clozapine.

34. In April 2006, Teva paid airfare, lodging, meals, and entertainment expenses for
Reinstein, a professional associate of Reinstein, Reinstein’s wife, his nurse and a guest, his
accountant and her spouse, and his administrative assistant and her spouse, to travel with Reinstein
to Miami. During this trip, Teva paid for Reinstein and his entourage to go on a $2,300 boat cruise
and at least two dinners costing more than $1,700 each.

35. At a meeting held during Reinstein’s April 2006 trip to Miami, Teva employees
asked Reinstein what Teva could do to induce Reinstein to prescribe more clozapine for his patients.
Reinstein responded that Teva should hire an associate of his from Chicago, Kim Nguyen (Nguyen).
Tevaagreed to Reinstein’s demand and hired Nguyen in May 2006. In the months immediately after
Teva hired Nguyen, Reinstein put several hundred patients back on Teva’s clozapine.

36. Reinstein’s so-called consulting agreement with Teva expired on August 31, 2006.

In or about March 2007, Reinstein pressed Teva’s sales representative for a renewal of the
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consulting agreement. In April 2007, Reinstein and Teva agreed to a new, one-year, $50,000
“speaker agreement” that was made retroactive to November 2006. Reinstein and Teva entered into
new, annual “speaker agreements” in or about June 2008, and again in or about June 2009.

37. On November 3, 2009, Teva made what turned out to be its last payment to Reinstein
pursuant to a “speaker agreement.”

38. On November 10, 2009, an article questioning the appropriateness of Reinstein’s use
of clozapine appeared in the Chicago Tribune. Shortly after this article appeared, Reinstein
contacted Teva and asked that it no longer pay him pursuant to the “speaker agreement.”

39. Teva continued to employ Nguyen until July 15, 2011.

False Claims Reinstein Submitted and Caused to be Submitted
A. Claims to Medicaid and Medicare for Clozapine Prescriptions

40. With respect to the clozapine that Reinstein prescribed as a result of soliciting and
receiving illegal remuneration in violation of the Anti-Kickback Act, Reinstein knew that, because
most of his patients are indigent nursing home residents, the medications he prescribed were
dispensed by pharmacies that submitted claims for the prescriptions to Medicaid and, after January
1, 2006, to Medicare Part D. Because Reinstein’s clozapine prescriptions were generated by
kickbacks, claims to Medicaid and Medicare for reimbursement for these prescriptions were
materially false for purposes of the FCA, and Reinstein’s conduct in knowingly causing the
submission of these claims violated 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) (pre-2009 amendments) and 31 U.S.C.
§3729(a)(1)(A) (current version of FCA). All of'these claims fall within the FCA’s ten-year statute

of limitations. See 31 U.S.C. § 3731(b)(2).
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41, Medicaid received and paid claims from various pharmacies for clozapine
prescriptions written by Reinstein between August 2003 through July 15, 2011, as a result of the
illegal kickbacks he solicited and received from IVAX and Teva. Medicare Part D also received and
paid claims for clozapine prescriptions written by Reinstein between January 1, 2006, and July 15,
2011, as a result of the illegal remuneration he solicited and received from IVAX and Teva. The
individual claims that Medicaid and Medicare paid are not detailed here to protect the confidential
patient information contained therein, and because the claims are too voluminous to summarize here.
Contemporaneously with the filing of this complaint, Reinstein will be served with discs containing
spreadsheets detailing all of the false and/or fraudulent clozapine prescription claims that were paid
by Medicaid and Medicare Part D during the relevant period. For each of the over 100,000
Medicaid claims generated by the kickbacks Reinstein solicited and received, the spreadsheet will

include fields identifying:

. Recipient Name

. Recipient ID

. Provider Name

. Provider ID

. Date of Service

. Provider Charge Amount
. Net Liability Amount

. Professional Fee Amount
. NDC Number

. Prescription Number

. Drug Quantity

. Number of Refills Authorized
. Payee ID

. Drug Label Name

. Drug Generic Name

. Drug Brand Name

For each of the over 40,000 Medicare Part D prescription claims generated by the kickbacks

Reinstein solicited and received, the spreadsheet will include fields identifying:

14
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. Beneficiary HICN

. Beneficiary Name

. Prescription Drug Event (PDE) Claim Control Number
. PDE Patient Paid Amount

. PDE LICS Amount

. PDE CPP Amount

. Total Paid Plain Government Beneficiary - Other
. PDE Dispensing Fee

. PDE Ingredient Cost Amount

. PDE Sales Tax

. PDE GDCB Amount

. PDE GDCA Amount

. NDC Number

. Drug Product Name

. Generic Name

. Date of service

. Provider ID

. Provider Name

. Prescriber 1D

. Prescriber Name

B. Claims to Medicaid and Medicare for CPT Code 90862 - Pharmacologic Management

42. For the patients for whom Reinstein prescribed clozapine between August 2003 and
July 15, 2011, as a result of illegal kickbacks, Reinstein also submitted and/or caused to be
submitted to both Medicaid and Medicare claims for “pharmacologic management” of those
patients, which was billed under CPT Code 90862 (which is defined as “prescription, use, and
review of medication”). Reinstein did not engage in meaningful pharmacological management,
because Reinstein’s prescribing decisions for his clozapine patients were based on the kickbacks he
received from IVAX and Teva rather than Reinstein’s independent medical judgment or the
individual needs of his patients. Accordingly, the CPT Code 90862 claims Reinstein submitted to
Medicaid and Medicare for patients he had on clozapine between August 2003 and July 15, 2011,
were materially false for purposes of the FCA, and Reinstein’s conduct in submitting and/or causing

the submission of these claims violated 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) (pre-2009 FCA) and 31 U.S.C. §

15
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3729(a)(1)(A) (current FCA). All of these claims fall within the FCA’s ten-year statute of
limitations. See 31 U.S.C. § 3731(b)(2).

43, Medicaid and Medicare both paid CPT Code 90862 claims submitted by Reinstein
for “pharmacologic management’ he purportedly provided to patients he had on clozapine between
August 2003 and July 15, 2011. The individual claims that Medicaid and Medicare paid are not
detailed here to protect the confidential patient information contained therein, and because the
claims are too voluminous to summarize here. Contemporaneously with the filing ofthis complaint,
Reinstein will be served with discs containing spreadsheets detailing all of the false and/or
fraudulent CPT Code 90862 claims that were paid by Medicaid and Medicare during the relevant

period. For each of'the over 40,000 Medicaid claims, the spreadsheet will include fields identifying:

. Recipient Name

. Recipient ID

. Provider Name

. Provider 1D

. Payee Name

. Payee ID

. Date of Service

. Place of Service

. Diagnosis Code

. Procedure Code

. Total Units

. Allowed Units

. Provider Charge Amount
. Net Liability Amount

For each of the over 10,000 Medicare claims, the spreadsheet will include fields identifying:

. Provider Name

. Provider Number
. Provider NPI

. Claim Number

. HIC Number

. Beneficiary Name
. Date of Service
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. Claim Submission Date

. Date Claim was Paid

. CPT Code

. Amount Submitted

. Amount Allowed

. Amount Paid to Provider
Count 1

False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)

Causing the Submission of False Claims
to Medicaid and Medicare for Services Rendered as a Result of Kickbacks

44, Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-43 of this complaint as if fully set
forth.

45. Defendant knowingly caused false claims for payment or approval to be presented
to the United States in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) (pre-2009 amendments) and 31 U.S.C.
§3729(a)(1)(A) (current version of FCA) when he caused the submission of claims to Medicaid and
Medicare for clozapine prescriptions the defendant wrote as a result of kickbacks and/or illegal
remuneration in violation of the Anti-Kickback Act.

46. By virtue of the false and/or fraudulent claims made by the defendant, the United
States suffered damages and therefore is entitled to treble damages under the False Claims Act, to

be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to $11,000 for each violation.
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Count 11
False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)

Submitting and/or Causing the Submission of
False Claims to Medicaid and Medicare for CPT Code 90862

47. Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-43 of this complaint as if fully set
forth.

48. Defendant knowingly submitted and/or caused false claims for payment or approval
to be presented to the United States in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) (pre-2009 amendments)
and 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A) (current version of FCA) when he submitted and/or caused the
submission of claims to Medicaid and Medicare for CPT Code 90862 for patients for whom
Reinstein was prescribing clozapine as a result of illegal kickbacks.

49. By virtue of the false or fraudulent claims made by the defendant, the United States
suffered damages and therefore is entitled to treble damages under the False Claims Act, to be
determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to $11,000 for each violation.

Count I11
Payment Under Mistake of Fact

all; Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-43 of this complaint as if fully set
forth.

51. This is a claim for the recovery of monies paid by the United States and the State of
[llinois to the defendant as a result of mistaken understandings of fact.

32 The false claims which defendant submitted and/or caused to be submitted to the
United States’ and the State of Illinois’ agents were paid by the United States and the State of

[llinois based upon mistaken or erroneous understandings of material fact.

18
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i The United States and the State of Illinois, acting in reasonable reliance on the
truthfulness ofthe claims and the truthfulness of defendant’s certifications and representations, paid
defendant certain sums of money to which he was not entitled, and defendant is thus liable to
account and pay such amounts, which are to be determined at trial, to the United States.

Count 1V
Common Law Fraud

54. Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-43 of this complaint as if fully set
forth.

D3: Defendant made material and false representations in submitting claims to the United
States and the State of [llinois, with knowledge of their falsity or reckless disregard for their truth,
with the intention that the United States and State of Illinois act upon the misrepresentations to their
detriment. The United States and State of Illinois acted in justifiable reliance upon defendant’s
misrepresentations by making payments on the false claims.

56. Had the true facts been known to the United States and the State of Illinois, defendant
would not have received payments for his false and fraudulent claims.

57. By reason of these payments, the United States has been damaged in an amount to

be determined at trial.
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Count V

Unjust Enrichment

38. Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-43 of this complaint as if fully set
forth.

59. This is a claim for the recovery of monies by which the defendant has been unjustly
enriched.

60. By directly or indirectly obtaining government funds to which he was not entitled,

defendant was unjustly enriched, and is liable to account and pay such amounts, or the proceeds

therefrom, which are to be determined at trial, to the United States.

Prayer For Relief

WHEREFORE, plaintiff, United States of America requests that judgment be entered in its
favor and against defendant as follows:

1. On the First and Second Counts under the False Claims Act for the amount of the
United States” damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties as are required by law,
together with all such further relief as may be just and proper.

2. On the Third, and Fifth Counts, for payment by mistake and unjust enrichment, for
the damages sustained and/or amounts by which the defendant was unjustly enriched or by which
defendant retained illegally obtained monies, plus interest, costs, and expenses, and all such further

relief as may be just and proper.

20



Case: 1:12-cv-09167 Document #: 1 Filed: 11/15/12 Page 21 of 21 PagelD #:21

3. On the Fourth Count, for common law fraud, for compensatory and punitive damages
in an amount to be determined, together with costs and interest, and for all such further relief'as may
be just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

GARY S. SHAPIRO
Acting United States Attorney

By: s/ Eric S. Pruitt
ERIC S. PRUITT
Assistant United States Attorney
219 South Dearborn Street
Chicago, Illinois 60604
(312) 353-5496
eric.pruitt@usdoj.gov
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STATE OF ILLINOIS
DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION

)
of the State of Illinois, Complainant )
v, ) No. 94-5603-LEG
MICHAEL J. REINSTEIN, M.D. )
License No. 036-041796, Respondent )
CONSENT ORDER

The Department of Professional Regulation by Susan J. Link,
one of 1ts attorneys, and Michael J. Reinstein, M.D., Respondent,
hereby agree to the following:

STIPULATIONS

Michael .J. Reinstein, M.D. is licensed aa a Physician and
Surgecn in the State of Illincis, holding license No. 036-041796.
At all times material to the matter set forth in this Consent
Order, the Department of Professional Regulaticn of the State of
Illinois had jurisdiction over the subject matter and parties
herein.

Information has come to the attention of the Department that
Respondent may have improperly admitted a patient to a psychiatric
hospital based on information given Ey a family member, who was
under psychiatric ecare at the time. Prior tec the admigsion,
Respondent evaluated the patient and attempted to contact other
family members, whom he was unable to reach. |

The allegation(s] as saet forth herein, if proven to be true
might comstitute grounds for disciplining Respondent’s license as
a Physician and Surgeon, on the authority of 225 Illinois Compiled
Scacuces (1¥¥4), paragraphi(s) 60722 (A} (4).

As a result of the foregoing allegationis), the Department
held an Iﬁformal Conference at the mffiﬁes of the Department,
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100 West Randolph Street, Suite 9-300, Chicago, Illinois 60601 on
June 6, 1994. Respondent appeared in persocn on that date,
represented by Michael G. Erens. P.S5.B. Sarma, M.D. appeared as a
member of the Medical Disciplinary Board of the State of Illinois
and Susan J. Link appeared as an attorney for the Department.

Respondent denies the allegation{s), but for purposes of
settlement and this Consent Order only, agrees not to contest the
allegation(s}) at this time.

Respondent has been advised of the right to have the pending
allegation(s) reduced to written charges, the right to a hearing,
the right te contest any charges brought, and the right to
administrative review of any Order resulting from a hearing.
Respondent knowingly waives each of these rights, as well as any
right to administrative review of this Consent Order.

Respondent and the Department hawve agreed, in order to
settle and resclve this matter, that Michael J. Reinstein, M.D. be
permitted to enter into a Consent Order with the Department,
providing for the imposition of disciplinary measures which are
fair and eguitable in the circumstances and which are consistent
with the best interests of the pecple of the State of Illinois.

CONDITIONS

WHEREFORE, the Department, through Susan J. Link, its
attorney, and Michael J. Reinstein, M.D., agree:

A. The Physician and Surgeon License heretofore issued to

Michael J. Reinstein, M.D., Certificate of Registration
No. 036-041796 shall be Reprimanded.
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Further, Respondent shall complete a minimum of £ifty
(50} hours of remedial educaticn relating to
psychiatric disorders and their diagnosis and/or
treactment within one (1) year of the effective date of
this Consent Order.

All remedial education shall be in addition to any
continuing education reguirements of the Medical
Practice Act in effect during the year period, and
shall be pre-approved in writing by cone- of the
Department’s Medical Coordinators.

Respondent shall submit written proof of completion of
the remedial education to the Department within thirty
(30} days following the end of the year period.

All requests for pre-approval shall be in writing and
shall conctain 8Speciriec information regarding the
course (8} for which pre-approval is sought and all such
requests for pre-approval and proof of completion shall
be submitted to Emmons Russell, Chief of Medical
Investigations, 100 West Randolph Street, Suite 9-300,
Chicago, Illinois £0601.

Any violation by Respondent of the terms and conditions
of this Consent Order shall be grounds for the
Department to immediately file a Complaint to revoke
the Respondent’s license to practice as a Physician and
Surgeon in the State of Illinois.
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G. This Consent Order shall become effective ten (10) days

after it is approved by the Director of the Department.

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION
of the State of Illincis

7 -25-9 7 AU TSN~ e

DATE Susan J. Link L
_ Attorney for the Department
L Lf '.::f ¢ : 1 7 0. r‘“-{‘.,-.:‘-. ,i‘"‘?"l i.l:I
- o MWy edul ) pat L -
DATE alfar

rney for/the Respondent
/. o 10

embey, Medical Disciplinary Board

The foregoing Consent Order is approved in full,

vk, .
I'l'-.l.:l day or (\)1 i.v._wht ...nk ; 19 ¥ E
U
DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION
of the State of Illinois

/4/ fb M. Heldr
"IKEEE_@/@E

NME:SJL: reu REF: License No. 038-041796
Cage No. 94-5603-LEG

DATED THIS
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